Filed 12-11-2023

Page 1 of 41

FILED 12-11-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 23-AP-1023

v.

Waukesha County Case No. 18-CF-5

ERIC J. JOLING,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT ERIC J. JOLING

CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY HONORABLE PAUL F. REILLY, PRESIDING HONORABLE LAURA LAU, PRESIDING HONORABLE FREDERICK J. STRAMPE, PRESIDING Circuit Court Case No. 18-CF-5

Counsel for Defendant-Appellant Eric J. Joling:

Simerson Law LLC

Brent A. Simerson State Bar No. 1079280 2544 N. 84th St. Wauwatosa, WI 53226 (414) 220-0003 bsimerson@simersonlaw.com

INTRODUCTION

This appeal asks the Court to consider whether courts can force disabled Wisconsinites to divert and deplete their monthly Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI) payments to satisfy a criminal restitution obligation.

Mr. Joling is a 44-year-old Marine Corps veteran who suffers from Crohn's disease. In the early morning of January 1, 2018, he drove drunk and struck another vehicle, injuring its occupants. After agreeing to plead no contest to two OWI-related offense, Mr. Joling was sentenced in June 2018 to four years of initial confinement, with more years of prison time stayed in favor of probation.

The Circuit Court then held restitution proceedings over a 21month period beginning in August 2018. During that time, his insurer compensated the injured parties, more than covering their losses in exchange for broad, global releases. Finally, in April 2020—having earned his release through the substance abuse program, but with neither a job nor any assets, having to rely on his parents' goodwill for housing, food, and other essentials—Mr. Joling was ordered to pay \$500 each month towards restitution for a ten-year period.

Mr. Joling sought postconviction relief based in part on the new factor test. The Circuit Court denied the motion. In summarily reversing this ruling, the Court recounted his new factor claim:

Joling filed a motion for postconviction relief under WIS. STAT. § 809.30(2)(h). One of Joling's arguments was that there were new factors in the four months since his last hearing that warranted modification of the restitution order. Specifically, Joling asserted that his Crohn's disease had worsened significantly, adversely affecting his ability to get a job and pay restitution. In an attempt to combat the

disease, he was receiving monthly injections, taking additional medication, and eating only one meal per day. In fact, the Social Security Administration had determined that Joling was partially disabled and was eligible for monthly disability payments of \$1,153 per month because of the severity of his illness. These payments were Joling's sole source of income, and he argued that they could not be used for restitution payments under 42 U.S.C. § 407(a). *See Washington State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs. v. Guardianship Est. of Keffeler*, 537 U.S. 371, 383-85 (2003).

State v. Joling, No. 21-AP-1488, unpublished summ. disp. order, at 3 (Wis. Ct. App. Nov. 16, 2022) (footnote omitted).

The Court concluded that, because the Circuit Court failed to address these new factors or the new factor test, its ruling did not constitute an exercise of discretion at all. Accordingly, it reversed.

On remand, the Circuit Court ordered Mr. Joling to submit updated evidence of his circumstances. As part of his supplemental filings, he again argued that, under federal law, disabled individuals cannot be compelled to use their SSDI benefits to pay restitution.

After a hearing, the Circuit Court ordered Mr. Joling to pay \$250 each month towards restitution until the total amount—\$59,808.47—was paid in full. In doing so, it rejected his argument that it could not, consistent with 42 U.S.C. § 407(a), include Mr. Joling's SSDI payments as income in calculating restitution and, instead, entered an order with which it knew he could not comply without diverting and depleting a significant portion of his SSDI benefits.

Because the restitution order violates federal law designed to aid and protect disabled Americans, and because it was a product of an erroneous exercise of discretion, the Court should reverse.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. In determining a disabled defendant's ability to pay criminal restitution, does a circuit court violate 42 U.S.C. § 407(a) by including his SSDI payments as income and by entering a restitution order that transfers his right to a significant portion of his SSDI payments?

ANSWERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT: Implicitly, no.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S POSITION: Yes.

2. Does a circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion under Wis. Stat. § 973.20 if it enters a restitution order with which it knows a disabled defendant cannot comply without diverting and depleting a significant portion of his SSDI benefits?

ANSWERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT: Implicitly, no.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S POSITION: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is warranted because protecting the welfare of disabled Wisconsinites is a matter of profound public importance. This appeal presents unique issues, the resolution of which will likely define Wisconsin's role in vindicating the federal rights of this vulnerable minority population. For them, nothing in law could send a clearer message than a published opinion, a guiding precedent to which the lower courts are, thereafter, bound.

Oral arguments are unnecessary. The parties can fully and fairly address the issues in writing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court is familiar with much of the background of this case. As such, this section will focus primarily on more recent events, beginning with the Court's November 16, 2022 summary disposition order. Addressed below are the following: (A) the nature of the case; (B) the Court's summary disposition order; (C) post-remand supplemental submissions; and (D) the hearing and decision.

A. Nature of the Case

Mr. Joling drove intoxicated and struck a limousine, injuring its occupants. After he pleaded no contest to two OWI-related offenses, the Circuit Court sentenced him to five years of imprisonment on one count, stayed in favor of three years of probation, consecutive to eight years of imprisonment on the other count. Three of the injured occupants sought restitution, all of whom had signed broad releases in exchange for ample compensation. Mr. Joling did not dispute that their losses totaled \$59,808.47, (see R.88; A-App 001-002), but insisted that he had a diminished ability to pay that amount. Despite hearing undisputed testimony and other evidence from Mr. Joling and his vocational expert, the Circuit Court rejected his position and ordered him to pay the full \$59,808.47 in monthly installments of \$500 over 10 (R.92; A-App 003-007.) He sought postconviction relief, years. arguing, inter alia, that his worsened Crohn's disease and corresponding receipt of SSDI benefits were new factors which justified a restitution modification. His request was denied. (R.129; A-App 008-009.)

The Court reversed, finding that the Circuit Court's cursory new factor analysis did not suffice to constitute an exercise of discretion. (R.140; A-App 016-020.) On remand, Mr. Joling provided, at the Circuit Court's request, updated evidence regarding his life circumstances as well as supplemental briefing. (R.158-R.160; A-App 021-061.) Like Mr. Joling's original postconviction briefing, his supplemental brief contended that 42 U.S.C. § 407(a) protects SSDI recipient like himself from being compelled to use their benefits to satisfy a restitution order. The Circuit Court disagreed. It ordered Mr. Joling to pay monthly installments of \$250 until the total loss was fully paid, (R.163; A-App 088), despite knowing that he could not comply without using a significant portion of his SSDI payments.

This appeal follows.

B. The Court's Summary Disposition Order

On November 16, 2022, the Court issued a summary disposition order which reversed the Circuit Court's denial of Mr. Joling's postconviction motion. *State v. Joling*, No. 21-AP-1488 slip summ. disp. order, at 3-4 (Wis. Ct. App. Nov. 16, 2022); (found at A-App 016-020.) It explained that his postconviction briefing described two sets of facts that had developed in the months since the restitution decision and that, as potential new factors, may entitle him to a restitution modification: (1) "that his Crohn's disease had worsened significantly," requiring him to "receiv[e] monthly injections, tak[e] additional medication, and eat[] only one meal per day," thereby "adversely affecting his ability to get a job and pay restitution," and (2) that, "because of the severity of his illness," "the Social Security Administration had determined that Joling was partially disabled and was eligible for monthly disability payments of \$1,153 per month," Mr. "Joling's sole source of income" at the time. (A-App 018.)

The Court noted that, in postconviction briefing, Mr. Joling also "argued that [his SSDI payments] could not be used for restitution payments under 42 U.S.C. § 407(a)," citing Washington State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs. v. Guardianship Est. of Keffeler, 537 U.S. 371, 383-85 (2003). (Id.)

The Court concluded that the Circuit Court failed to exercise its discretion with respect to Mr. Joling's new factor claim. Specifically, the Circuit Court's August 20, 2021 order declined to consider either of the aforementioned factual development because, "[i]f the court reconsidered its Decision based upon alleged new facts, there would be no finality to the Order." (A-App 018-019.) The Court held that this was a proper basis on which to deny a new factor claim given binding cases like *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828. (A-App 019.) It explained that, by improperly declining to address Mr. Joling's proposed new factors, the Circuit Court "provided neither reasoning nor explanation in its decision" and, therefore, "did not, in fact, exercise its discretion in denying [his] postconviction motion on the basis of alleged new factors[.]" (Id.)

For these reasons, the Court "reverse[d] with instructions to conduct an analysis of [Mr. Joling's] asserted new factors under *Harbor*." (Id.)

C. Post-Remand Supplemental Submissions

On remand, the Circuit Court ordered Mr. Joling to file a supplemental submission, including a new affidavit with updated information covering his current life circumstances.¹ (R.151.) He

¹ The Circuit Court reasoned that, if it agreed to modify restitution, it should be based on current circumstances. Mr. Joling disagreed and requested, based on his other postconviction arguments, that the Circuit Court grant his motion, vacate the restitution decision, and redetermine restitution based on the existing record and briefs. Mr. Joling explained that, not only was the existing evidentiary record robust and the briefing complete, but basing a restitution modification on a full

complied on April 13, 2023, filing new affidavits from himself and undersigned counsel and a supplemental brief. (A-App 021-061.)

i. Developments Between the April 15, 2020 Decision and the May 7, 2021 Postconviction Filings

As the supplemental brief explained, at the time of the Circuit Court's April 15, 2020 restitution decision, the available information about Mr. Joling's circumstances—including his current and future income and expenses—came from his testimony, the report and testimony of his vocational expert, and his letter brief. (See R.80, R.100.) This reflected only that he suffered from Crohn's disease and that it may affect the kind of jobs or vocations he could pursue.

Between the April 15, 2020 decision and the May 7, 2021 postconviction filings, the severity of Mr. Joling's illness progressed dramatically. (See R.116-R.119.) His affidavit and medical records described the troubling symptoms that emerged during this period: 10 to 30 bowel movements a day, severe abdominal pain, sleep disruption and deprivation, and disordered eating. As the condition of his health declined, his providers attempted multiple interventions—including infusions and injections of steroids and other medications to try to suppress his immune system—with varying degrees of success. Indeed, as a result, the Social Security Administration determined that Mr. Joling was disabled and

submission of new evidence and argument was analogous to a resentencing as opposed to a sentence modification. It would be no different from, and would be tantamount to, completely redoing the restitution proceedings <u>except</u>, unlike in a resentencing, this approach would use the original restitution amount as a starting point or baseline, serving only to unduly influence the extent of the "modification." Mr. Joling's oral and written objections were overruled and his request denied. This argument proved prophetic as the Circuit Court ultimately ordered him to pay \$250 monthly – exactly 50% of the original, baseline amount.

qualified for SSDI payments. These developments were all disclosed as part of his May 7, 2021 postconviction submissions.

> ii. Developments Between the May 7, 2021 Postconviction Filings and the April 13, 2023 Updated Submissions

These aspects of Mr. Joling's life evolved somewhat between May 7, 2021 and April 13, 2023 but remained *drastically* different than they were at time of the April 15, 2020 restitution decision. His April 13, 2023 submissions included the following updates on his life circumstances:

1. Mr. Joling moved from veteran housing in Milwaukee back to Marathon County—the Wausau metropolitan area, specifically—where he was raised. (A-App 041, \P 3.) He now lived in an apartment located in the Town of Weston, Wisconsin. (Id.)

2. He now paid \$1,005.00/month in rent for the apartment. (Id. \P 4.)

3. Mr. Joling was now self-employed. He started his own process service company. (Id. ¶ 5.) His average monthly revenue in the first quarter of 2023 (i.e., January, February, and March) was \$1,039.33. (Id.) He paid income taxes which he approximated to constitute no less than 12% of his gross income (not including SSDI payments). (A-App 042, ¶ 8.) Therefore, his post-tax, net monthly income likely averaged under \$1,000.00.

4. He continued to receive monthly SSDI payments, now in the amount of \$1,187.00. (Id. \P 6.)

5. Excluding restitution payments, Mr. Joling now incurred monthly itemized expenses totaling \$914.61. (Id. \P 7.) His itemization was by no means exhaustive as it omitted certain regular and variable expenses like groceries, clothes, vehicle maintenance/repair and depreciation, and vehicle registration fees. Therefore, fully itemized, his monthly expenses likely averaged over \$1,000.00.

6. According to the payment history record Mr. Joling obtained from his probation agent, as of April 12, 2023, he had paid 1,460.00 towards restitution. (Id. ¶ 9, Ex. 1.)

7. According to Mr. Joling, his health—including, specifically, his Crohn's disease—remained in a deteriorated state. (Id. \P 10.) Although his symptoms manifested in a variable manner, his condition overall was essentially static. (Id.)

His updated medical records from the U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs (VA) corroborated his observations. (A-App 046, 048-061.) According to the most recent follow-up note from his January 30, 2023 GI appointment, (A-App 049-057), Mr. Joling only partially responded to the medication infusions of Stelara (ustekinumab) onto which he was fully titrated by February 2021, (A-App 050). Believing that increasing the frequency of these infusions would not increase blood serum levels of the drug, an additional medication, methotrexate, was started and stopped twice—once in September 2021 and again in March 2022—without benefit. (Id.) The note continued: "He still had evidence of biochemical (Monitr 63) and clinically active disease but he also has a component of IBS [irritable bowel syndrome] since his symptoms significantly worsen with stressors. . . . He continues to be symptomatic (diarrhea, abdominal pain improved) with biochemical evidence of active disease (FC 989

1/14/23)." (Id.) Because his providers believed that the failure to attain remission on Stelara was probably less about how the medication worked and more about achieving sufficiently high blood serum levels of the drug, his providers recommended that Mr. Joling switch from Stelara to Skyrizi (risankizumab), a medication with a similar mechanism of action. (Id.) Although initially reluctant, Mr. Joling had agreed to try a switch to Skyrizi. (Id.)

Regarding Mr. Joling's symptoms, the January 30, 2023 note reflected that Mr. Joling continued to experience "[n]ausea and reflux" and other symptoms as follows:

Abdominal pain/cramping a little better. If he eats too fast or depending on what he eats. trying to eat smaller portions. Trying to slow down also. He is still making 10-12 trips to the bathroom that are watery stools (associated with cramping and pain). Solid stools on occasion- 1-2X per month. Usually diarrhea. He denies bloody stools. feels "the touch of the flu" sometimes. His weight is fluctuating.

(A-App 051.) Other follow-up GI appointments noted similar symptoms. For example, he reported on January 6, 2023 that he was experiencing nausea and reflux; that he "mostly only eats once daily, between 6-7pm"; that, "[i]f he doesn't take evening dose of omeprazole, will wake up with reflux"; and that he

[h]as good days/bad days. Abdominal pain, cramping hasn't been as bad. Sometimes increased at night.

Typically will still have several BMs after eating. He reports 20-25 trips to the bathroom in a day with mucous, sometimes small amount of "watery substance". Actual number of BMs is 7-8 per day.

(A-App 058.) As another example, he reported the following symptomology at his September 16, 2022 GI follow-up appointment:

Feels he is continuing to see improvement very gradually. flares (diarrhea, cramping) improved from 1-2X per week to once every 1.5 weeks. Also depends on what and how much he eats. Notices that if he eats too quickly or more than usual has more pain and symptoms- diarrhea, cramping, increased frequency. No persistent pain which is an improvement for him. BMs are always post-prandial. Still only eats one meal around 6-7pm. Has 1 BM in the AM, 1-2 during the day. 4-5 BMs after dinner.

(A-App 059.) As a final example, at his March 10, 2022 follow-up appointment, he reported that, on good days, he had 5 BMs and, on bad days, 10 BMs; that he had "generalized abdominal pain – worse at night before bed – lies flat"; that he has nausea if he eats too much; that he has reflux 3-4 times per week; and that he "eats once daily to avoid pain." (A-App 060-061.)

iii. Supplemental Arguments

Aside from objecting to the Circuit Court's approach to addressing his postconviction motion, (A-App 028-029), Mr. Joling's supplemental brief raised several arguments on the merits of his new factor claim, (A-App 030-038). He argued that the two previouslyidentified new factors—his worsened health and receipt of SSDI payments—continued to constitute sets of facts highly relevant to determining restitution but had developed since, and were unknowable at the time of, the original restitution decision.

Specifically, Mr. Joling argued that, had the Circuit Court known that these circumstances would arise in Mr. Joling's future at the time of its April 15, 2020 restitution determination, then it would have—or at least should have, to properly exercise its discretion—found this knowledge to be highly relevant to its determination. The new facts need only be "highly relevant to the imposition of"

restitution. *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, \P 40. The new facts need not, however, frustrate the purpose of the original sentence. *Id.* \P 41.

Generally, new facts are "relevant" if they tend to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the matter more probable or less probable than it would be without the new facts. *Cf.* Wis. Stat. § 904.01. New facts may be relevant even if they are only a link in the chain of facts that must be shown to make a given proposition appear more or less probable. *State v. Pharr*, 115 Wis. 2d 334, 46, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983). No matter how one defines "highly relevant," these developments in Mr. Joling's life *clearly* meet this standard.

Mr. Joling contended that his worsening health and disability designation were highly relevant because they make it much less probable that he would be able to pay a substantial restitution amount like \$500 per month. First, his Crohn's disease was exceedingly burdensome on his daily functioning. He had bowel movements with remarkable frequency which, at its worst, was up to 30 times a day. He continued to suffer abdominal pain for long stretches of time, disrupting his ability to get a good night's rest. He ate one meal daily. And he received infusions or injections of medications just to feel well enough to have these symptoms. Clearly (and, according to the SSA, officially), his condition constituted a disability that was not going to resolve anytime soon. Becoming disabled for the indefinite future is a factual development that is "highly relevant" to a determination of an individual's earning capacity. By affecting his ability to work, Mr. Joling' Crohn's disease had compromised his ability to pay restitution.

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