Filed 03-11-2024

Page 1 of 26

FILED 03-11-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2023AP1023-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC J. JOLING,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART SENTENCE MODIFICATION ENTERED IN WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE FREDERICK J. STRAMPE AND THE HONORABLE PAUL F. REILLY, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA L. JANSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in deciding Joling's motion for sentence modification.

Joling sought to reduce his restitution obligation via new-factor sentence modification. The circuit court decided that Joling proved two new factors—the worsening of his Crohn's disease and his receipt of SSDI—and that determination isn't at issue on appeal. Rather, the only issue is whether the court erroneously exercised its discretion on the second step of the new-factor test.⁴ It granted Joling sentence modification in part, cutting in half his monthly restitution payments based on his ability to pay. Joling contends that the court misapplied the law in reaching this decision. (Joling's Br. 26–35.) He also appears to argue that the court's decision is irrational given the facts. (Joling's Br. 36–38.) Both arguments fail.

A. Circuit courts have discretion to modify a sentence if a new factor exists.

Wisconsin circuit courts have inherent authority to modify sentences, within certain constraints. *Harbor*, 333

⁴ Joling has abandoned all other claims regarding restitution. (Joling's Br. 25–38.)

Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 35. While a court cannot modify a sentence based on reflection or second thoughts alone, it may modify a sentence based on a new factor. Id.

"Deciding a motion for sentence modification based on a new factor is a two-step inquiry." *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 36. First, the "defendant has the burden to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence the existence of a new factor." *Id.* If the defendant proves a new factor by clear and convincing evidence, the second step requires the circuit court to decide "whether that new factor justifies modification of the sentence." *Id.* ¶ 37. "In making that determination, the circuit court exercises its discretion." *Id.* "A circuit court properly exercises its discretion when it has examined the relevant facts, applied the proper legal standards, and engaged in a rational decision-making process." *State v. Sulla*, 2016 WI 46, ¶ 23, 369 Wis. 2d 225, 880 N.W.2d 659 (citation omitted).

B. The circuit court correctly applied the law to the facts and reached a rational decision on Joling's motion.

Properly understood, Joling's arguments on appeal relate to the second step of the new-factor test. He argues that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in two ways: (1) it misapplied the law when it acknowledged his SSDI in determining his ability to pay restitution, and (2) it reached an irrational decision based on the facts. (Joling's Br. 25–38.) The State addresses each argument in turn.

1. The circuit court correctly considered Joling's SSDI in determining his ability to pay restitution.

As discussed, the circuit court considered Joling's SSDI in calculating his net monthly income for purposes of determining his ability to pay restitution. (R. 171:23.) Citing to 42 U.S.C. § 407(a), Joling first argues that his "SSDI benefits should have been ignored or removed from the Circuit Court's determination of his ability to pay restitution." (Joling's Br. 27.) The weight of persuasive authority refutes this claim.

Section 407(a) is a provision of the Social Security Act that protects benefits. It provides,

The right of any person to any future payment under this subchapter shall not be transferable or assignable, at law or in equity, and none of the moneys paid or payable or rights existing under this subchapter shall be subject to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal process.

42 U.S.C. § 407(a). This Court has observed that § 407(a) contains two prohibitions: the "anti-assignment provision" and the "general exemption provision." *Lakewood Credit Union v. Goodrich*, 2016 WI App 77, ¶¶ 17, 19, 372 Wis. 2d 84, 887 N.W.2d 342. "The anti-assignment provision bars the assignment or transfer of '[t]he right of any person to any future payment' of social security benefits." *Id.* ¶ 17 (citation omitted). The general exemption "provision 'protects social security benefits paid or payable from [certain] creditor collection rights." *Id.* ¶ 19 (citation omitted).

Joling contends that the circuit court violated both above provisions in modifying his monthly restitution obligation. (Joling's Br. 26–27.) Specifically, he believes that the court violated the general exemption provision by "subject[ing] any SSDI funds that were paid or payable to Mr. Joling to a criminal restitution order." (Joling's Br. 27.) And he submits that the court violated the anti-assignment provision by "transfer[ing] Mr. Joling's right to a portion of his future SSDI payments to the victims, in satisfaction of his restitution obligation." (Joling's Br. 34.)

Joling's arguments rely on a flawed premise, namely that the circuit court ordered him to use his SSDI to satisfy his restitution obligation. (Joling's Br. 26–35.) The court expressly said that it wasn't doing that: "I'm making him pay

Page 15 of 26

the restitution out of earnings that he has from his process serving business." (R. 171:11.) Breaking it down, the court figured that Joling could apply his \$1,187 in monthly SSDI to his \$1,719 in monthly expenses, which would leave \$532 in monthly expenses. Applying Joling's post-tax, monthly selfemployment income of \$914.62 to the remaining monthly expenses, Joling would have roughly \$382 leftover from his self-employment income from which to pay restitution. (R. 171:11-13, 15, 21-24.)

In short, it was entirely possible for the circuit court to fashion a restitution order that didn't require Joling to use his SSDI to satisfy the legal obligation, and that's exactly what it did. That the court acknowledged his SSDI in deciding his ability to pay restitution but didn't order him to pay restitution from those funds is a distinction that matters under the weight of persuasive authority on this issue.

For example, in *J.G.*, the Supreme Court of California addressed whether a juvenile court violated § 407(a) by considering the juvenile's Supplemental Security Income (SSI) in deciding his ability to pay restitution. *In re J.G.*, 434 P.3d 1108, 1109–10, 1116–20 (Cal. 2019). The juvenile court didn't specifically order the juvenile to pay restitution out of his SSI. *Id.* at 1116, 1119–20. Nevertheless, like Joling here, the juvenile argued that the juvenile court violated § 407(a)'s general exemption provision by subjecting his SSI to "other legal process" within the meaning of the federal statute. (Joling's Br. 27–33); *J.G.*, 434 P.3d at 1116. The government disagreed, arguing that a court's "[c]onsideration of SSI . . . benefits to determine how much total financial support a minor has is not the same as requiring the minor to use those benefits to satisfy 'legal process." *Id.*

Relying on *Keffeler*'s⁵ interpretation of "other legal process" in § 407(a), the J.G. court sided with the government: "Under Keffeler, 42 U.S.C. section 407(a) does not preclude a court from considering SSI benefits in determining the ability to pay restitution." J.G., 434 P.3d at 1116–18. It reasoned that merely considering SSI payments in determining the juvenile's complete financial picture isn't the same as exercising "judicial authority 'to gain control over' those benefits, which is the characteristic of the processes 42 U.S.C. section 407(a) specifies—execution, levy, attachment, and garnishment-and on which Keffeler focused." Id. at 1118. The court also noted that its conclusion was "consistent with a number of decisions holding-sometimes based on Keffeler-that 42 U.S.C. section 407(a) or a similar antiattachment provision does not preclude consideration of benefits in determining the recipient's ability to pay restitution or some other financial obligation." Id. (collecting cases).

Among those cases is *Kays v. State*, where the Supreme Court of Indiana likewise concluded that "social security benefits may be considered by a trial court in determining a defendant's ability to pay restitution." *Kays v. State*, 963 N.E.2d 507, 510 (Ind. 2012). The court reasoned that "ignoring a defendant's social security income may paint a distorted picture of her ability to pay restitution." *Id.* It explained,

⁵ Washington State Dep't of Social & Health Servs. v. Guardianship Estate of Keffeler, 537 U.S. 371, 384–85 (2003) (holding that "other legal process" means a "process much like the processes of execution, levy, attachment, and garnishment, and at a minimum, would seem to require utilization of some judicial or quasi-judicial mechanism... by which control over property passes from one person to another in order to discharge or secure discharge of an allegedly existing or anticipated liability").

[A] debt-free defendant who lives with a family member and receives room and board at no charge may very well have the ability to pay restitution even if her only income is from social security. This does not mean that the State could levy against that income to collect the restitution, but it does reflect an important part of the person's total financial picture that a trial court may consider in determining ability to pay.

Id. at 510–11. And like the Supreme Court of California, the *Kays* court noted numerous decisions "that have permitted consideration of income or other assets that cannot be levied against in assessing a defendant's overall ability to pay fines or restitution." *Id.* at 511 (collecting cases).

The Michigan Court of Appeals has similarly found "no error merely in the trial court's consideration of [the defendant's] SSDI benefits as income" in determining the ability to pay restitution. In re Lampart, 856 N.W.2d 192, 200 (Mich. Ct. App. 2014). That's "because 42 U.S.C. § 407(a) does not directly proscribe such consideration." Id. It would only be problematic, the Lampart court reasoned, if "the trial court's consideration of those benefits result[ed] in an order of restitution that could only be satisfied from those benefits." Id. (emphasis added). And even then, the court said that it wouldn't be the restitution order that subjected the SSDI benefits to an "other legal process" within the meaning of 407(a)—it would be the court's use of contempt powers "so as to cause [the defendant] to satisfy her restitution obligations from her SSDI benefits" that would cause a violation. Id. at 199.

The Court of Criminal Appeals of Tennessee followed Lampart's lead in State v. Saffles, holding that "a trial court may consider a defendant's Social Security benefits when making an ability to pay [restitution] determination because consideration of these benefits helps provide a clear picture of a defendant's complete financial status." State v. Saffles, No.

Page 18 of 26

E2020-01116-CCA-R3-CD, 2021 WL 4075030, at *17 (Tenn. Crim. App. Sept. 8, 2021) (unpublished). It reasoned, "Section 407(a) does not prevent a trial court from considering Social Security benefits in determining whether to impose a restitution obligation but does preclude a trial court from using legal process to reach a person's Social Security benefits in order to satisfy a restitution obligation." *Id.* Like in *Lampart*, the *Saffles* court noted that the offending "legal process" wouldn't be the restitution order itself—it would be the revocation of the defendant's probation for failing to pay restitution: "the probation revocation, like a finding of contempt, compels satisfaction of the restitution obligation from the Defendant's Social Security benefits and therefore qualifies as 'other legal process' under 42 U.S.C. § 407(a)."⁶ *Id.*

Though not restitution cases, several other cases are persuasive on this topic. In *State v. Ingram*, the Supreme Court of Montana held that the lower court didn't violate § 407(a) by imposing a mandatory fine as part of sentencing. *State v. Ingram*, 478 P.3d 799, 802–04 (Mont. 2020). The *Ingram* court reasoned that the defendant wasn't ordered to use his SSDI to pay the fine: "[t]he District Court simply imposed the mandatory fine, referenced no source [of] income or assets, and did not attempt to capture, directly or indirectly, Ingram's SSDI benefit and thereby violate the Social Security Act." *Id.* at 803.

In *Phipps v. Phipps*, the Supreme Court of Idaho similarly held that a divorce agreement didn't violate § 407(a) because there was no requirement that the defendant use his social security benefits for purposes of equalization. *Phipps v. Phipps*, 864 P.2d 613, 616–17 (Idaho 1993). The *Phipps* court

⁶ Notably, like *Lampart* and *Saffles*, the Supreme Court of Indiana also rejected the notion that a restitution order itself constitutes "an 'other legal process' pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 407(a)." *Kays v. State*, 963 N.E.2d 507, 509 (Ind. 2012).

observed, "the only importance of Mr. Phipps' Social Security receivable benefits is that they serve as a guide for his monthly payments to Mrs. Phipps." *Id.* at 617.

Finally-though by no means exhaustive on the subject—is a decision from the Court of Civil Appeals of Alabama. There, the court held "that the juvenile court's order requiring the father to pay his child-support arrearage from his SSI benefits under threat of contempt violates § 407(a)." J.W.J. v. Alabama Dept. of Human Resources ex rel. B.C., 218 So.3d 355, 358–60 (Ala. Civ. App. 2016). It relied on Lampart for the proposition that "[o]rders requiring payment of a recipient's SSI benefits under pain of contempt have been construed as 'other legal process." Id. at 358. However, the court observed that "the juvenile court is not prevented from entering a judgment on the arrearage or from enforcing its order that the father make payments toward the arrearage provided that the father is ordered to satisfy his obligations from assets or sources of income other than the father's SSI benefits." Id. at 359.

The takeaway here is that an abundance of persuasive authority refutes Joling's claim that the circuit court misapplied the law by considering his SSDI benefits in determining his ability to pay restitution. Because Joling was not ordered to pay restitution out of his SSDI benefits, the benefits aren't subject to "legal process" in violation of § 407(a)'s general exemption provision, nor have they been transferred to the victims contrary to § 407(a)'s antiassignment provision.⁷

⁷ Even if the circuit court had ordered restitution understanding that Joling's only source of income was his SSDI benefits, it's debatable whether such an order would violate the general exemption provision of 42 U.S.C. § 407(a). As discussed above, several courts have concluded that a restitution order alone

Page 20 of 26

Joling offers three restitution cases in support of his position, none of which help him. Because he *can* satisfy his monthly restitution obligation from something other than his SSDI benefits, he's wrong to rely on *Lampart*. (Joling's Br. 32–33); *Lampart*, 856 N.W.2d at 200 ("[W]e hold that, to the extent that the trial court's consideration of those benefits results in an order of restitution that could only be satisfied from those benefits, the use of the court's contempt powers then would violate 42 U.S.C. § 407(a).").

Joling's reliance on *State v. Eaton* is similarly misplaced. (Joling's Br. 32.) There, the Montana Supreme Court held that the lower court violated § 407(a) "when it ordered [the defendant] to make restitution payments equal to the amount of 20 percent of his net income, including income from his social security benefits." *State v. Eaton*, 99 P.3d 661, 665 (Mont. 2004). As later clarified in *Ingram*, the "error" was that "the District Court imposed restitution and explicitly ordered that Eaton pay 20% of his social security income toward the restitution obligation." *Ingram*, 478 P.3d at 803 (distinguishing *Eaton*). By contrast, the circuit court here didn't order Joling to use his SSDI to pay restitution.

Along similar lines, this Court's decision in *State v*. *Kenyon* doesn't help Joling, either. (Joling's Br. 34–35.) There, this Court was asked to decide whether the circuit court violated the anti-alienation clause of the Employee

isn't the type of legal process contemplated by § 407(a)'s general exemption provision. Rather, some type of enforcement mechanism is required. And if that's the case, it's difficult to see how a restitution order alone would violate § 407(a)'s anti-assignment provision, either. But this Court need not reach this issue because the circuit court ordered Joling to pay restitution out of his self-employment income. See Maryland Arms Ltd. P'ship v. Connell, 2010 WI 64, ¶ 48, 326 Wis. 2d 300, 786 N.W.2d 15 ("Typically, an appellate court should decide cases on the narrowest possible grounds.").

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